**THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS**

---

Appeal from Spartanburg County  
Court of Common Pleas  
Grace Gilchrist Knie, Circuit Court Judge

---

Case No. 2022-CP-42-01163  
Appellate Case No. 2023-001612

---

Timothy Hutley, Guardian for Jane Doe,

Respondent,

v.

THI of South Carolina at Magnolia Manor Inman, LLC,  
THI of Baltimore, Inc., THI of South Carolina, LLC,  
Hunt Valley Holdings, LLC, THI of South Carolina at Inman, LLC,  
Murray Forman, and Kathy Scroggs, Individually,

Defendants.

Of which THI of South Carolina at Magnolia Manor Inman, LLC,  
THI of Baltimore, Inc., THI of South Carolina, LLC, and  
Hunt Valley Holdings, LLC, are the

Appellants.

## STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Did the circuit court err in denying the Facility’s<sup>1</sup> motion to compel Plaintiff’s<sup>2</sup> claims to arbitration and, in turn, denying the Other Appellants’<sup>3</sup> corresponding motions to stay this lawsuit pending the outcome of the Facility’s motion and any resulting arbitration between Plaintiff and the Facility?<sup>4</sup>**
- A. Did the circuit court err in rejecting the Facility’s merger/equitable estoppel argument? More specifically, should the circuit court have found (1) that the Admission Agreement and the Arbitration Agreement merged and (2) that, because Jane Doe effectively embraced and directly benefitted from the Admission Agreement, Plaintiff is estopped to deny the enforceability of the Admission Agreement and the Arbitration Agreement merged therewith—and, thus, granted the Facility’s motion to compel arbitration and, in turn, the Other Appellants’ motions to stay?**
- 1. Is the circuit court’s merger analysis erroneous?**
- (a) Did the circuit court err in relying on *Solesbee v. Fundamental Clinical and Operational Services*,**

---

<sup>1</sup> The “Facility” refers to Defendant/Appellant THI of South Carolina at Magnolia Manor–Inman, LLC (named in this action as “THI of South Carolina at Magnolia Manor Inman, LLC,” i.e., without the dash), which is the sole licensee and operator of the skilled nursing facility known as Magnolia Manor Inman.

<sup>2</sup> “Plaintiff” refers to Plaintiff/Respondent, Timothy Hutley (“Mr. Hutley”), Guardian for Jane Doe.

<sup>3</sup> The “Other Appellants” refers to Defendants/Appellants THI of Baltimore, Inc. (“THIB”), THI of South Carolina, LLC (“THISC”), and Hunt Valley Holdings, LLC (“HVH”), collectively. Together, the Facility and the Other Appellants are referred to collectively as “Appellants.”

<sup>4</sup> To be clear, out of an abundance of caution, this issue and the corresponding argument includes not only Appellants’ challenge to the circuit court’s denial of their respective principal motions but also their challenge to the circuit court’s denial of reconsideration with respect to their respective principal motions.

*LLC*<sup>5</sup>—indeed, is the *Solesbee* Court’s merger analysis itself erroneous—and should *Solesbee* control the disposition of this case?

2. Is the circuit court’s equitable estoppel analysis erroneous?

B. At a minimum, should the circuit court have granted the Facility’s alternative request for permission to conduct limited discovery to address gaps in the evidentiary record bearing on the Arbitration Agreement’s enforceability under principles relating to the law of agency?

II. Out of an abundance of caution, to the extent that Appellants might somehow be prejudiced if this is not challenged on appeal, where the Facility admits that it is the sole licensee and operator of Magnolia Manor Inman and the Other Appellants deny that they manage, operate, or control any skilled nursing facility, including the Facility, or have ever delivered nursing care to any person, including Jane Doe, did the circuit court err in using the plural noun “Defendants” in referring to Magnolia Manor Inman as “Defendants’ facility,” and in any way otherwise that it might be said to have blurred distinctions between Appellants?

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

With the help of Mr. Hutley, her son, Jane Doe was admitted as a resident of the Facility on August 22, 2018. (R. pp. 176–187.) Mr. Hutley handled the paperwork in conjunction with the admission, and in so doing, he signed an Admission Agreement<sup>6</sup> and an Arbitration Agreement<sup>7</sup> on Jane Doe’s behalf.

Plaintiff filed this lawsuit in the Spartanburg County Court of Common Pleas on March 31, 2022, alleging Appellants are liable for injuries Jane Doe

---

<sup>5</sup> 438 S.C. 638, 885 S.E.2d 144 (Ct. App. 2023).

<sup>6</sup> (R. pp. 176–187.)

<sup>7</sup> (R. p. 135.)

suffered during her residency at the Facility. (R. pp. 17–37.) The Facility timely answered Plaintiff’s operative complaint on May 18, 2022, denying the alleged liability, raising numerous affirmative defenses, and expressly reserving its right to compel arbitration, which it also raised as an affirmative defense. (R. pp. 38–46.) The Other Appellants also timely answered on May 18, 2022, denying the alleged liability and raising numerous affirmative defenses. (R. pp. 47–70.)

On January 17, 2023, the Facility moved to compel Plaintiff’s claims against it to arbitration based on the Arbitration Agreement Mr. Hutley signed on behalf of Jane Doe in conjunction with her admission (the “Motion to Compel Arbitration”). (R. pp. 133–134; R. pp. 142–187, 135.)<sup>8</sup> At the same time, the Other Appellants moved to stay the litigation pending the outcome of the Motion to Compel Arbitration and any resulting arbitration between Plaintiff and the Facility (collectively, the “Motions to Stay”). (R. pp. 136–141; R. pp. 208–219.)

---

<sup>8</sup> Without question, Plaintiff’s claims against the Facility are within the scope of the Arbitration Agreement, the plain language of which calls for arbitration of “any controversy or dispute between the parties arising out of or relating to [the] Facility’s Admission Agreement, or breach thereof, or relating in any way to [Jane Doe’s] stay at [the] Facility, or to the provisions of care or services to [Jane Doe] . . . .” (R. p. 135.) But even if there were “any doubts concerning the scope of arbitrable issues[,] [they] should be resolved in favor of arbitration . . . .” *Towles v. United HealthCare Corp.*, 338 S.C. 29, 41, 524 S.E.2d 839, 846 (Ct. App. 1999); *see also Zabinski v. Bright Acres Assocs.*, 346 S.C. 580, 597, 553 S.E.2d 110, 118 (2001) (“[U]nless the court can say with positive assurance that the arbitration clause is not susceptible to an interpretation that covers the dispute, arbitration should be ordered.”).

Collectively, the Motion to Compel Arbitration and the Motions to Stay are referred to as the “Underlying Motions.”

Following a hearing on March 1, 2023,<sup>9</sup> the circuit court, the Honorable Grace Gilchrist Knie presiding, denied the Underlying Motions by order filed May 15, 2023. (R. pp. 4–13.)<sup>10</sup> Pursuant to Rule 59(e), SCRCP, on May 25, 2023, Appellants timely moved the circuit court to alter, amend, and/or reconsider its decision. (R. pp. 228–256.) The circuit court heard the motion on September 5, 2023,<sup>11</sup> and denied it by order filed September 13, 2023. (R. pp. 14–16.)

By notice served and filed October 12, 2023, and amended notice served and filed October 13, 2023, this appeal timely follows. (R. pp. 257–272.)

### **STANDARD OF REVIEW**

A circuit court’s determination of whether a claim is subject to arbitration is reviewed de novo on appeal. *Gissel v. Hart*, 382 S.C. 235, 240, 676 S.E.2d 320, 323 (2009). This includes de novo review of the determination of whether an arbitration agreement is enforceable against a nonsignatory. *Wilson v. Willis*, 426 S.C. 326, 334, 827 S.E.2d 167, 172 (2019). “Under de novo review, a circuit court’s factual findings will not be reversed on appeal if any evidence reasonably supports those

---

<sup>9</sup> (R. pp. 71–118.)

<sup>10</sup> The circuit court’s formal order denying the Underlying Motions was preceded by a form order, filed March 21, 2023, announcing the court’s decision and directing Plaintiff’s counsel to submit a proposed formal order. (R. pp. 1–3.)

<sup>11</sup> (R. pp. 119–132.)

findings.” *Id.* Issues of law, however, are reviewed without any particular deference to the circuit court. *See, e.g., Duke Energy Corp. v. S.C. Dep’t of Revenue*, 415 S.C. 351, 782 S.E.2d 590 (2016). Even where a ruling is on a matter within circuit court’s discretion, if the ruling is based on a misunderstanding of the law, rather than upon the exercise of discretion, the question presented on appeal is one of law. *See Bain v. Self Mem’l Hosp.*, 281 S.C. 138, 152, 314 S.E.2d 603, 611 (Ct. App. 1984).

### **ARGUMENT**

- I. The circuit court erred in denying the Motion to Compel Arbitration and, in turn, denying the Motions to Stay.**
  - A. The circuit court erred in rejecting the Facility’s merger/equitable estoppel argument. The circuit court should have found (1) that the Admission Agreement and the Arbitration Agreement merged and (2) that, because Jane Doe effectively embraced and directly benefitted from the Admission Agreement, Plaintiff is estopped to deny the enforceability of the Admission Agreement and the Arbitration Agreement merged therewith—and, thus, granted the Motion to Compel Arbitration and, in turn, the Motions to Stay.**

The relationship between the Motion to Compel Arbitration and the Motions to Stay is such that, as indeed reflected by the circuit court’s principal order’s primary focus on the Motion to Compel Arbitration, the denial of the Motion to Compel Arbitration dictated the denial (as moot) of the Motions to Stay. Accordingly, to show why the circuit court should have granted the Motion to Compel Arbitration is, in turn, to show why it should have granted the Motions to Stay. *See* 9 U.S.C. § 3 (“If any suit or proceeding be brought in any of the courts

of the United States upon any issue referable to arbitration under an agreement in writing for such arbitration, the court in which such suit is pending, upon being satisfied that the issue involved in such suit or proceeding is referable to arbitration under such an agreement, *shall* on application of one of the parties *stay the trial of the action until such arbitration has been had in accordance with the terms of the agreement*, providing the applicant for the stay is not in default in proceeding with such arbitration.”) (emphasis added); *Stokes v. Metro. Life Ins. Co.*, 351 S.C. 606, 612, 571 S.E.2d 711, 715 (Ct. App. 2002) (“[The] FAA clearly requires a court stay ‘any suit or proceeding’ pending the arbitration of ‘any issue referable to arbitration under an agreement in writing for such arbitration’ upon the application of one of the parties.”).

The core question here is this: Is the Arbitration Agreement (which Mr. Hutley signed for Jane Doe<sup>12</sup>) enforceable against Jane Doe—or, more precisely,

---

<sup>12</sup> Out of an abundance of caution, Appellants include in this issue/argument their challenge to the circuit court’s reference in its principal order to “Defendants” having “had” Mr. Hutley sign the Admission Agreement and Arbitration Agreement. (R. p. 5.) Although this reference is only in a background section of the court’s order and does not actually purport to determine any factual issue, out of an abundance of caution, to the extent that it might potentially expose Appellants to any threat of prejudice going forward if they do not challenge it on appeal, Appellants object to any suggestion that Mr. Hutley was in any way required to sign the Admission Agreement or the Arbitration Agreement. Indeed, the Arbitration Agreement expressly states, “It is understood by Resident/Representative that he/she is not required to use the aforesaid Facility for Resident’s healthcare needs and that there are numerous other health care providers in the State where the Facility is located that are qualified to provide such care to

against Plaintiff, who brings this action on Jane Doe’s behalf as her guardian—even though it was not signed by Jane Doe herself? The answer is yes. The Arbitration Agreement is enforceable against Plaintiff—or, more precisely, Plaintiff is estopped to deny that the Arbitration Agreement (and, for that matter, the Admission Agreement) is enforceable.

To be clear, the Facility’s merger/equitable estoppel argument is a standalone argument. It does not depend on any showing of authority (actual or apparent or otherwise) on the part of Mr. Hutley or otherwise on the existence of any valid agreement per se. *Wilson*, 426 S.C. at 338, 827 S.E.2d at 174 (“South Carolina has recognized several theories that could bind nonsignatories to arbitration agreements under general principles of contract and agency law, including . . . estoppel.”); *see also Coleman v. Mariner Health Care, Inc.*, 407 S.C. 346, 354–55, 755 S.E.2d 450,

---

Resident” (R. p. 135), and by virtue of his signature thereon, Mr. Hutley “is presumed to have read, understood, and assented to” the same. *Gibson v. Epting*, 426 S.C. 346, 352, 827 S.E.2d 178, 181 (Ct. App. 2019) (“[O]ne who has signed a contract is presumed to have read, understood, and assented to its terms.”). The Arbitration Agreement was optional and was not required as a condition of Jane Doe’s admission to the Facility, and there is no evidence in the record to the contrary. *Cf. The Huffines Co., LLC v. Lockhart*, 365 S.C. 178, 188, 617 S.E.2d 125, 130 (Ct. App. 2005) (“[V]erdicts may not be permitted to rest upon surmise, conjecture, or speculation.”). Lastly, to the extent that the circuit court’s use of “had” might suggest any duress, which is, of course, denied, duress is an affirmative defense to contract enforceability, *see* Rule 8(c), SCRCF (“[A] party shall set forth affirmatively the defense[] [of] . . . duress . . . and any other matter constituting an avoidance or affirmative defense.”); *Gainey v. Gainey*, 382 S.C. 414, 428, 675 S.E.2d 792, 799 (Ct. App. 2009), that Plaintiff would have to have raised and proved, neither of which he did. (*See generally* R. pp. 220–227.)

455 (2014) (acknowledging the possibility of enforcing an arbitration agreement against a nonsignatory via merger and equitable estoppel); *id.* (explaining that “Appellants’ equitable estoppel argument,” which “[wa]s premised on [Appellants’] contention that, under state law, the admission agreements and the [arbitration agreements] merged,” as follows: “Appellants contend that even if Sister lacked capacity to execute the [arbitration agreement] . . . , she is nevertheless *equitably estopped to deny the [arbitration agreement’s] enforceability.*”) (emphasis added).

Conceptually, the Facility’s merger/equitable estoppel argument is *not* an argument *for the enforceability* of the Admission Agreement/Arbitration Agreement *but rather* an argument *for Jane Doe, and, in turn, Plaintiff (her guardian), to be estopped to deny the enforceability* of the Admission Agreement/Arbitration Agreement. In short, the idea is that the Admission Agreement and the Arbitration Agreement merged, and Jane Doe having effectively embraced and directly benefitted from the Admission Agreement, Plaintiff (who stands in her shoes as her guardian) is now estopped to deny the enforceability not only of the Admission Agreement but also the Arbitration Agreement merged therewith. And by its very nature, i.e., because the Facility’s argument in favor of direct benefits estoppel is based on the direct benefits Jane Doe received under the Admission Agreement (with which the Arbitration Agreement merged), this argument applies with equal force to estop Plaintiff, i.e.,

Jane Doe’s guardian, from denying the enforceability of the Admission Agreement and the Arbitration Agreement merged therewith.

Accordingly, as to the Facility’s merger/equitable estoppel argument, any contrary analysis regarding the Admission Agreement/Arbitration Agreement’s supposed lack of validity—e.g., that Mr. Hutley lacked authority to sign the Admission Agreement/Arbitration Agreement on behalf of Jane Doe under the law of agency<sup>13</sup> and/or under the South Carolina Adult Health Care Consent Act, S.C. Code Ann. §§ 44-66-10 to -80 (the “AHCCA”),<sup>14</sup> and/or because Mr. Hutley lacked power of attorney over Jane Doe<sup>15</sup>—is beside the point and unavailing to refute the Facility’s merger/equitable estoppel argument, which, again, turns not on the question of whether the Admission Agreement/Arbitration Agreement is enforceable per se but whether Jane Doe, and, in turn, Plaintiff (her guardian), is estopped to deny its enforceability.

**1. The circuit court’s merger analysis is erroneous.**

In *Coleman*, even though our Supreme Court found against merger on the particular *facts* of the case, it nonetheless confirmed the validity of the general proposition of *law* on which the *Coleman* appellants based their merger/equitable estoppel argument:

---

<sup>13</sup> (See R. pp. 6, 11–12 (referring to lack of express or apparent authority).)

<sup>14</sup> (See R. p. 11 (referring to lack of authority under the AHCCA).)

<sup>15</sup> (See R. pp. 5, 10–11 (referring to lack of power of attorney).)

Appellants contend that even if Sister lacked capacity to execute the [arbitration agreement] under the [AHCCA], she is nevertheless equitably estopped to deny the [arbitration agreement's] enforceability. The circuit court held there was no estoppel here, and we agree.

Appellants' equitable estoppel argument is premised on their contention that, under state law, the admission agreements and the [arbitration agreements] merged. In South Carolina,

The general rule is that, in the absence of anything indicating a contrary intention, where instruments are executed at the same time, by the same parties, for the same purpose, and in the course of the same transaction, the courts will consider and construe the documents together. The theory is that the instruments are effectively one instrument or contract.

*Klutts Resort Realty, Inc. v. Down'Round Dev. Corp.*, 268 S.C. 80, 88, 232 S.E.2d 20, 24 (1977).

Here, *the documents were executed at the same time, by the same parties, for the same purposes, and in the course of the same transaction. Unless there is a contrary intention, appellants are correct that there was a merger.*

407 S.C. at 354–355, 755 S.E.2d at 455 (emphasis added).

Here, the circuit court erred in rejecting the Facility's merger argument, failing to recognize material differences between the facts and arguments involved in the instant case and those that controlled (or were simply not addressed in) *Coleman* and its progeny *Thompson v. Pruitt Corp.*, 416 S.C. 43, 784 S.E.2d 679 (Ct. App. 2016),

and *Hodge v. UniHealth Post-Acute Care of Bamberg, LLC*, 422 S.C. 544, 813 S.E.2d 292 (Ct. App. 2018).<sup>16</sup>

The circuit court wrongly concluded that the Admission Agreement and the Arbitration Agreement are separate contracts that do not merge. (R. p. 10.) The merger question examines whether, “where instruments are executed at the same time, by the same parties, for the same purpose, and in the course of the same transaction,”<sup>17</sup> as undoubtedly the Admission Agreement and the Arbitration Agreement were here,<sup>18</sup> there is evidence to upset the *presumption in favor of merger*, i.e., the presumption that the instruments were intended to be construed together as effectively one contract. This is a question of intention. *Id.* at 355, 755 S.E.2d at 455 (“in the absence of anything indicating a contrary *intention* . . .”) (emphasis added). And “in attempting to ascertain th[e] [parties’] intention,” our

---

<sup>16</sup> The circuit court also erred in its reliance on the more recent case of *Solesbee*, 438 S.C. 638, 885 S.E.2d 144, which is separately addressed below.

<sup>17</sup> *Coleman*, 407 S.C. at 355, 755 S.E.2d at 455.

<sup>18</sup> To be clear, *Coleman* unequivocally answers the question of whether the instant Admission Agreement and Arbitration Agreement were executed at the same time, by the same parties, for the same purposes, and in the course of the same transaction: they were. As the *Coleman* Court expressly observed regarding the admission and arbitration agreements before it (which in *this* respect—but not in respect of the material facts bearing on the question of whether the presumption of merger is rebutted—are no different from the instant agreements), “the documents were executed at *the same time, by the same parties, for the same purposes, and in the course of the same transaction.*” 407 S.C. at 355, 755 S.E.2d at 455 (emphasis added).

courts “endeavor to determine the situation of the parties, as well as their purposes, at the time the contract was entered into.” *Klutts*, 268 S.C. at 89, 232 S.E.2d at 25.

It must be remembered that, where, as here, the instruments in question were executed at the same time, by the same parties, for the same purpose, and in the course of the same transaction, merger is *presumed*. For the merger presumption to mean anything in practice it cannot be upset based on mere conjecture, but only by actual evidence that—notwithstanding the concurrence of all the particular circumstances necessary for the presumption to even arise in the first place (same time, parties, purpose, and transaction)—can nonetheless support a reasonable, non-speculative inference that the parties’ intention was contrary to merger. *Cf. Huffines*, 365 S.C. at 188, 617 S.E.2d at 130 (“[V]erdicts may not be permitted to rest upon surmise, conjecture, or speculation.”). No such inference can be drawn here. Indeed, under the circumstances, the very idea that there would have been an intention contrary to merger does not make sense.

Unlike the arbitration agreements at issue in *Coleman*, *Thompson*, and *Hodge*, all of which contained a provision allowing them to be disclaimed or revoked within 30 days of signing while the corresponding admission agreements did not, the instant Arbitration Agreement has no disclaimer/revocation provision. (R. p. 135.) Moreover, while the instant Admission Agreement does contain an “Entire Agreement” clause, it does not reference the Arbitration Agreement as a separate

contract. (R. p. 187.) Indeed, directly contradicting the idea of “separatedness” (in the parlance of the *Coleman* Court<sup>19</sup>), the “Entire Agreement” clause in the instant Admission Agreement expressly states that “other Admissions materials” are part of the Admission Agreement, thereby expressly contemplating the lack of its own supposed “separatedness.” (R. p. 187.) Without question, the plain and ordinary meaning of the language “other Admissions materials” is such as to embrace the Arbitration Agreement. *See Stott v. White Oak Manor, Inc.*, 426 S.C. 568, 571–72, 828 S.E.2d 82, 84 (Ct. App. 2019) (“The same day as Decedent’s admission to White Oak, Stott, acting as Decedent’s authorized representative, signed White Oak’s admission documentation—including the Arbitration Agreement.”) (emphasis added) (internal footnote omitted); *Hodge*, 422 S.C. at 550, 813 S.E.2d at 295 (“Her husband . . . executed various documents *related to her admission*, including an *Arbitration Agreement* and an *Admission Agreement.*”) (emphasis added)).<sup>20</sup> And any notion that there is ambiguity in this regard is unsupported and erroneous.

---

<sup>19</sup> 407 S.C. at 356, 755 S.E.2d at 455 (explaining how, in *Coleman*—unlike the instant case—the “Entire Agreement” clause expressly referred to a separate arbitration agreement and, thus, “recognize[d] the ‘*separatedness*’ of the [arbitration agreement] and the admission agreement, not a merger of the two contracts.”) (emphasis added).

<sup>20</sup> To be clear, the Facility’s point here is not that the holding of either *Stott* or *Hodge* established a legal standard for what counts as admission paperwork, but rather that the very fact that the language that the *Stott* and *Hodge* Courts used in discussing the facts of the cases so readily made the natural and logical connection between arbitration agreements signed in conjunction with admission and “admission documentation” / “documents related to . . . admission” that it illustrates that, in its

To be sure, the Arbitration Agreement was optional, i.e., agreeing to arbitration was not required as a precondition of Jane Doe’s residency at the Facility. But all this means is that the Arbitration Agreement did not have to be executed at all. It does not mean that the Arbitration Agreement did not become part of the admissions materials once it was in fact executed. Indeed, the fact that the Arbitration Agreement was not required for admission underscores its *connectedness* to the Admission Agreement. The two go together hand in glove. Without the hand (the Admission Agreement), there is no reason for the glove (the Arbitration Agreement).

Moreover, while it is true that the Arbitration Agreement is not necessary to the Admission Agreement, the converse is not true: The Admission Agreement *is* necessary to the Arbitration Agreement. That is, the Admission Agreement *could* have stood on its own, i.e., without the Arbitration Agreement ever having been executed, in which case no question of merger would have even arisen to begin with—but that is not what happened. The Arbitration Agreement was in fact

---

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