**RECEIVED**

**Sep 11 2024**

**SC Court of Appeals**

**THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS**

---

Appeal from Spartanburg County  
Court of Common Pleas

Grace Gilchrist Knie, Circuit Court Judge

---

Case No. 2020-CP-42-01163

Appellate Case No. 2023-001612

---

Timothy Hutley,  
Guardian for Jane Doe,

Respondent,

v.

THI of South Carolina at Magnolia Manor Inman, LLC,  
THI of Baltimore, Inc., THI of South Carolina, LLC,  
Hunt Valley Holdings, LLC, THI of South Carolina at Inman, LLC,  
Murray Forman, and Kathy Scroggs, Individually,

Defendants.

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

### **ARGUMENT**

#### **I. The Circuit Court properly refused to apply the Merger Doctrine to find the Arbitration Agreement enforceable.**

Our Courts have held that arbitration is a matter of contract and a party cannot be required to submit to arbitration any dispute which he has not agreed to submit." [\*Gissel\*, 382 S.C. at 241, 676 S.E.2d at 323](#). "[T]he presumption in favor of arbitration applies to the scope of an arbitration agreement; it does not apply to the existence of such an agreement or to the identity of the parties who may be bound

to such an agreement." [Wilson, 426 S.C. at 337, 827 S.E.2d at 173](#) (emphasis omitted) (quoting [Carr v. Main Carr Dev., LLC, 337 S.W.3d 489, 496 \(Tex. App. 2011\)](#)). "[B]ecause arbitration, while favored, exists solely by agreement of the parties, a presumption against arbitration arises where the party resisting arbitration is a nonsignatory to the written agreement to arbitrate." *Id.* at 337-38, 827 S.E.2d at 173 (emphasis omitted). Nevertheless, "[w]ell-established common law principles dictate that in an appropriate case a nonsignatory can enforce, or be bound by, an arbitration provision within a contract executed by other parties." [Pearson v. Hilton Head Hosp., 400 S.C. 281, 288, 733 S.E.2d 597, 600 \(Ct. App. 2012\)](#) (quoting [Int'l Paper Co. v. Schwabedissen Maschinen & Anlagen GMBH, 206 F.3d 411, 416-17 \(4th Cir. 2000\)](#)).

"Whether an arbitration agreement may be enforced against nonsignatories, and under what circumstances, is an issue controlled by state law." [Wilson, 426 S.C. at 338, 827 S.E.2d at 173-74](#). "South Carolina has recognized several theories that could bind nonsignatories to arbitration agreements under general principles of contract and agency law, including (1) incorporation by reference, (2) assumption, (3) agency, (4) veil piercing/alter ego, and (5) estoppel." *Id.* at 338, 827 S.E.2d at 174. This court has held the theory of equitable estoppel precludes parties from asserting their nonsignatory status, compelling them to submit their claims to arbitration. *Id.* at 339, 827 S.E.2d at 174. Under this theory, "[a] nonsignatory is

estopped from refusing to comply with an arbitration clause `when it receives a direct benefit from a contract containing an arbitration clause.'" [\*Pearson\*, 400 S.C. at 290, 733 S.E.2d at 601](#) (quoting [\*Int'l Paper\*, 206 F.3d at 418](#)). "In the arbitration context, the doctrine recognizes that a party may be estopped from asserting that the lack of his signature on a written contract precludes enforcement of the contract's arbitration clause when he has consistently maintained that other provisions of the same contract should be enforced to benefit him." *Id.* (emphasis omitted) (quoting [\*Int'l Paper\*, 206 F.3d at 418](#)).

Notably, in those opinions addressing equitable estoppel in the arbitration context, the nonsignatory's contractual benefit is not typically an alleged benefit of arbitration such as "avoiding the expense and delay of extended court proceedings" or being "capable of enforcing the [AA]," as touted by Appellants in the present case — rather, the contractual benefit typically arises from another provision of the same contract that includes the arbitration provision. See [\*Pearson\*, 400 S.C. at 296-97, 733 S.E.2d at 605](#) (ability to work at the defendant's hospital facility and receive payment for work); see also [\*Int'l Paper Co.\*, 206 F.3d at 418](#) (warranty provisions); [\*Jackson\*, 524 F.Supp.2d at 750](#) (entitlement to retain a \$150,000 payment pursuant to the contract's liquidated damages provision); [\*Am. Bureau of Shipping v. Tencara Shipyard S.P.A.\*, 170 F.3d 349, 353 \(2d Cir.1999\)](#) (lower insurance rates on a yacht 60\*60 and the ability to sail under the French

flag); [\*Deloitte Noraudit A/S v. Deloitte Haskins & Sells, U.S.\*, 9 F.3d 1060, 1064 \(2d Cir.1993\)](#) (continuing use of a name).

Defendants argued the court should find the Arbitration Agreement merged with the Admission Agreement because merger is presumed when the instruments in question are executed at the same time, by the same parties, for the same purpose, and in the course of the same transaction.

In [\*Coleman v. Mariner Health Care, Inc.\*](#), our Supreme Court held:

In South Carolina, "[t]he general rule is that, in the absence of anything indicating a contrary intention, where instruments are executed at the same time, by the same parties, for the same purpose, and in the course of the same transaction, the courts will consider and construe the documents together. The theory is that the instruments are effectively one instrument or contract."

[407 S.C. at 355, 755 S.E.2d at 455](#) (quoting [\*Klutts Resort Realty, Inc. v. Down'Round Dev. Corp.\*](#), 268 S.C. 80, 88, 232 S.E.2d 20, 24 (1977)).

The *Coleman* court found the documents in that case were executed at the same time, by the same parties, for the same purpose, and in the course of the same transaction; thus, unless there was a contrary intention, there was a

merger. *Id.* However, the court determined that "[b]y their own terms, the contracts between these parties indicated an intent that the common law doctrine of merger not apply." *Id.* And, even if a clause in the contract created an ambiguity as to merger, the law is clear that any ambiguity in such a clause is construed against the drafter. *Id.* at 355-56, 755 S.E.2d at 455. Thus, there was no merger in that case, and the appellants' equitable estoppel argument was properly denied. *Id.* at 356, 755 S.E.2d at 455.

Also, in [\*Hodge v. UniHealth Post-Acute Care of Bamberg, LLC\*](#), the Court held the admission agreement and arbitration agreement did not merge because: (1) the admission agreement indicated it was governed by South Carolina law, whereas the arbitration agreement stated it was governed by federal law; (2) like in *Coleman*, the arbitration agreement recognized the two documents were separate, stating "[a]ny and all claims or controversies arising out of or in any way relating to this Agreement or the Patient/Resident's Admission Agreement"; (3) the arbitration agreement stated it could be revoked within thirty days, whereas the admission agreement contained no such indication and instead provided the admission agreement could only be amended; (4) each document was separately paginated and had its own signature page; and (5) the arbitration agreement stated signing it was not a precondition to admission. [422 S.C. at 562-63, 813 S.E.2d at 302.](#)

Here, the Admission Agreement provides it is governed by South Carolina law, and the Arbitration Agreement provides it is governed by federal law. The Arbitration Agreement recognized the two documents were separate, stating the Arbitration Agreement "shall survive any termination or breach of this Agreement or the Admission Agreement." The Arbitration Agreement is silent as to whether it could be revoked, but the Admission Agreement provides, "Resident and/or his/her legal representative may terminate this Agreement at any time, upon written notice to Facility." The Admission Agreement and Arbitration Agreement were separately paginated and had their own signature pages. The Parties have conceded there was no Power of Attorney in effect at the time of admission. Thus, like the *Coleman* and *Hodge* courts, there was no merger in this case and Defendants' equitable estoppel argument is denied.

The *Coleman* court also considered whether the Adult Health Care Consent Act (Act)<sup>[7]</sup> gave a family member authority to execute an arbitration agreement on behalf of another. The court held:

The scope of Sister's authority [under the Act] to consent to "decisions concerning Decedent's health care" extended to the admission agreement, which was the basis upon which Facility agreed to provide health care and Sister agreed to pay for it. The separate arbitration agreement concerned neither health care nor payment, but instead provided an optional method for dispute resolution between Facility and Decedent or Sister should issues arise in the future. Under the Act, Sister did not have the capacity to bind Decedent to this

voluntary arbitration agreement. We therefore affirm the circuit court's holding that the Act did not confer authority on Sister to execute a document which involved neither health care nor financial terms for payment of such care.

[407 S.C. at 353-54, 755 S.E.2d at 454](#). In [Thompson v. Pruitt Corporation](#), this court also held the admission agreement did not merge with the arbitration agreement and the son's authority under the Act to execute the admission agreement did not cover the terms of the arbitration agreement. [416 S.C. at 52-53, 784 S.E.2d at 684-85](#).

In 2023, our Court of Appeals issued an Order addressing the same Resident/Representative Arbitration Agreement in the present case. [Solesbee v. Fundamental](#) 438 S.C. 638,885 S.E.2d 144 (Ct. App. 2023). In reviewing the agreement used in that case, which is the same facility in question in the present case, the Court of Appeals found there was no express authority because in [Solesbee](#), at the time her son signed the agreement, he was not operating under a Power of Attorney and there was no merger.

In [Solesbee](#), the Court construed the purported arbitration agreement and relied on [Coleman v. Mariner Health Care, Inc.](#), [407 S.C. 346, 755 S.E.2d 450 \(2014\)](#); [Hodge v. UniHealth Post-Acute Care of Bamberg, LLC](#), [422 S.C. 544, 813 S.E.2d 292 \(Ct. App. 2018\)](#); and [Thompson v. Pruitt Corporation](#), [416 S.C. 43, 784 S.E.2d 679 \(Ct. App. 2016\)](#) to rule the Arbitration Agreement in question in the

present case was unenforceable because there was no merger. The critical circumstances are virtually identical and therefore the result should be the same in the present case.

Here, the Admission Agreement provides it is governed by South Carolina law, and the Arbitration Agreement provides it is governed by federal law. The Arbitration Agreement recognized the two documents were separate, stating the Arbitration Agreement "shall survive any termination or breach of this Agreement or the Admission Agreement." The Arbitration Agreement is silent as to whether it could be revoked, but the Admission Agreement provides, "Resident and/or his/her legal representative may terminate this Agreement at any time, upon written notice to Facility." The Admission Agreement and Arbitration Agreement were separately paginated and had their own signature pages. Appellants have admitted at the hearing that the arbitration agreement was voluntary. Thus, like the *Coleman* and *Hodge* courts, there was no merger in the Solesbee case and similarly there is no merger in the present case and the merger and equitable estoppel arguments were properly denied.

## **II. The circuit court properly denied the Appellants' request for additional discovery on the issue of the arbitration agreement.**

Here, the circuit court exercised its discretion in denying the Appellants additional time for discovery. At no time during the proceedings have the

Appellants served any written discovery or sought any depositions. To have delayed the decision further to order discovery would have been an unreasonable delay. The circuit court did not abuse its discretion in denying the Appellants a delay for discovery. In addition, Appellants could have submitted Affidavits from its agents or employees who were involved in the admissions process. No such affidavits were filed with the circuit court.

### **Conclusion**

The arbitration agreement was not valid because Jane Doe did not sign it. In addition, Hutley did not have authority, express or apparent, to bind Jane Doe to an arbitration agreement. The Admission Agreement and the Arbitration Agreement were separate and did not merge. In addition, there was no evidence that Jane Doe did or said anything to mislead the Defendants so as to support an argument of equitable estoppel.